IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE  
STATE OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM T. TURNER, )  
 )  
 Appellant, )  
 )  
 v. )  
 )  
 STATE OF FLORIDA )  
 )  
 Appellee. )

---

Docketed

3-18-86

Florida Attorney  
General

CASE NO. 67,987

**RECEIVED**  
MAR 18 1986

DEPT. OF LEGAL AFFAIRS  
CRIMINAL DIVISION

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the Fourth  
Judicial Circuit

Capital Case

Clyde M. Collins, Jr., Esquire  
Cotney & Collins  
233 East Bay Street #1016  
Jacksonville, Florida 32202  
Telephone: 904/356-0162

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a sentence of death. William T. Turner was charged by indictment with first degree murder of his estranged wife Shirley Turner and her roommate Joyce Brown, contrary to Section 782.04, Florida Statutes (1983).

William Turner proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Southwood, Circuit Judge, on August 13, 14, 15 and 16, 1985. At the conclusion of the guilt stage of the trial, the jury returned a verdict finding William Turner guilty of murder in the first degree, count one, and guilty of murder in the first degree, count two. (R 191).

At the penalty phase of the trial; as to count one [Shirley Turner], the jury found: sufficient aggravating and sufficient mitigating circumstances. The jury, by a vote of six or more recommended a life sentence. (R 212). As to count two [Joyce Brown], the jury found: sufficient aggravating circumstances; and by a vote of seven to five, recommended a death sentence. (R 213).

The appellant was adjudicated guilty and sentenced in count one to a life term of imprisonment with no parole for 25 years (R 299) and in count two, to death by electrocution. (R 300,302). The trial judge found four aggravating circumstances, of which, the conviction of the murder of Shirley Turner in count one was "the most significant factor considered by the court in imposing sentence." (R 304). Notice of appeal was timely filed

(R 310) and undersigned counsel appointed for purpose of direct appeal. (R 318).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant William T. Turner, in the early morning hours on the day following his 39th birthday, walked to a Monroe Street apartment near the interstate highway exit where his estranged wife, Shirley Turner, and their daughter, Anetra, lived with Joyce Brown and her <sup>Joyce shared room w/ father.</sup> daughter Irene Hall. The appellant fired a single shot shotgun outside the building then entered the apartment. William Turner stabbed his wife some twenty-two (22) times while Anetra yelled and hit her father with her fists. (T 630). At no time did Mr. Turner say anything to Anetra or Irene Hall or react to anything the children said or did. (T 599, 635).

At this point, the record is unclear as to the circumstances leading to the appellant stabbing Joyce Brown some fifty-one (51) times in a telephone booth located on the busy street corner some three houses away from the apartment. It is not clear from the record whether the appellant left the apartment in pursuit of his daughter or Joyce Brown or encountered Joyce Brown on the street after leaving the apartment.

*Sought out Browns at phone booth - stabbed on ground too*

It is also not clear from the record whether the appellant ceased stabbing Joyce Brown when a police car passed the telephone booth located at the corner. A neighbor, Daniel

*Conflict*

Robinson, testified that the appellant continuously stabbed Joyce Brown despite the fact that a police car passed by without stopping to render assistance.(T 377-79). Another eye witness, Russell Kimball, gave similar testimony. (T 757). In contrast, James Andrews, testified at trial that the appellant stabbed Joyce Brown a number of times until he saw a police car pass by the apartment. Andrews stated that at that point in time the appellant retreated to the side of the building, waited until the car had passed, then returned and repeated stabbing Joyce Brown. (T 354). The decedent's daughter, Irene Hall, gave similar testimony. (T 594).

Jacksonville Police Officers Venosh and Aikens arrived on the scene shortly thereafter and chased the appellant down an alley. Officer Venosh testified that he ordered the appellant to stop running. The officer stated that the appellant stopped, raised his hands - keeping a knife in his right hand - and took a step towards the officer. After a standoff for a moment, the appellant dropped the knife and surrendered. (T 642-43). Officer Venosh was reported as saying that at the time of the arrest, Turner was in a "very agitated state and was growling and gnashing his teeth." (T 712-13). Officer Aikens testified that the appellant stated "go ahead and kill me . . . it's not worth living for." (T 701).

The Chief Deputy Medical Examiner, Bonoflorio Floro, M.D., testified of the vast number of incise wounds, a conglomeration of stabbing and cutting (T 532), suffered by both victims and their cause of death due to loss of blood. Dr. Floro

"Please  
don't kill me."

stated that Shirley Turner fell after receiving a fatal wound and received additional stab wounds. (T 553). Shirley Turner received some 21 stab wounds of the neck and chest. (T541-42). Joyce Brown received in excess of 51 stab wounds. <sup>— also slashes</sup> (T 537). Dr. Floro described the crime as "overkill" and defined "overkill" as when the assailant continues to stab an already dead victim. (T 550-51). Such a term and multiple stab wounds is more frequently found in so-called homosexual murders or in victims killed by homosexuals. So who

At the close of the state's case, appellant's motion for a judgment of acquittal was denied. (T 690).

The defense presented seven (7) witnesses. F.B.I. Special Agent Stephen Rayfield and Special Agent Ernest Killian testified that the appellant was interviewed as a potential confidential informant but rejected, in part, because of his total preoccupation with the affairs of his wife, Shirley Turner. (T 731, 741-42).

Daniel T. Stinson, M.D., was qualified as an expert in the field of psychiatry and testified to the appellant's insanity. Dr. Stinson rendered an opinion that the appellant was suffering from a brief reactive psychosis; was not able to reason accurately; and not in control of his faculties. (T 792, 825). The doctor explained that the psychosis appeared following a psychosocial stressor or a buildup of factors which included the appellant's age, in having experienced his thirty-ninth (39th) birthday and perceiving his estranged wife having sexual intercourse on the night of the appellant's 39th birthday with

another man. (T 826). *no evidence to support this perception*

At the conclusion of Dr. Stinson's testimony, defense counsel offered into evidence the judicial order committing the appellant for a Baker Act mental examination and its medical report. The state's objection was sustained. (T834).

The defense rested and moved for a judgment of acquittal. (T 834). The motion was denied. (T 871).

In rebuttal, the state called two psychiatrists: George Barnard, M.D., and Ernest Miller, M.D. Dr. Barnard rendered an opinion that the appellant did not have any resultant disability that would cause him to lose his ability to know the nature and quality of his acts. (T 891).

Dr. Miller testified that the apparent fury, the amount of force directed on the victims, and the inordinate number of stab wounds correlates with a highly charged emotional state and often with a psychotic state. (T 957-58). The doctor rendered an opinion that despite his emotional state the appellant knew the nature and the consequences of his acts and the wrongfulness of his acts at the time that he committed them. (T 955). Although Dr. Miller found the William Turner not insane, he also found the appellant to be lacking premeditation to kill. Dr. Miller stated that he found nothing to suggest that the appellant had gone to the house to kill his wife (T 984) or that the murders had been a premeditated act. (T 1009). Rather, Dr. Miller explained that William Turner wanted to conduct a commando raid on the house and create a diversion by shooting the shotgun, and in the resulting confusion, rescue his daughter. (T 1006). He further explained

*that's what he told the Dr.*

that the appellant perceived his wife Shirley Taylor having a lesbian affair with Joyce Brown and working as a prostitute in the house in front of her children. (T 984). *no evidence of either*

At the conclusion of Dr. Miller's testimony, defense counsel again offered into evidence the judicial order committing the appellant for a Baker Act mental examination and medical report. The state's objection was sustained again. (T 1014). *not committed released*

The state rested. The defense's motion for judgment of acquittal was denied. (T 1011).

In chambers, the trial court heard argument regarding jury instructions. The court granted, over objection, the state's motion for a jury instruction regarding flight. (T 1019). The Court also granted two jury instructions proposed by the defense: instruction on voluntary manslaughter # 1 (R 169); and Special Instructions on Insanity #1 (R 171).

The jury returned a verdict of guilty to both counts. The defense moved for a continuance of the sentencing phase in order to introduce into evidence requested but not received military records of William T. Turner. The motion for continuance was denied. (T 1183).

At the penalty stage of trial, the state did not call any witnesses but introduced into evidence the two jury verdict forms. (T 1187). The state did not offer evidence of any other aggravating factor.

The appellant called six witnesses to testify in mitigation, including the appellant's father, brother, and the state's expert witness, Dr. Miller. The appellant relied upon the

interrelated factors of commission of the murder while "under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance," F.S. 921.141(6)(b) and the "capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired." F.S. 921.141(6)(f). In addition, the appellant relied upon non-statutory mitigating factors, relating to his family background, upbringing, and military record. *disch 1968*

*what does this mean*

In support of mitigating factors, the appellant produced Ernest Miller, M.D., who had previously testified as the state's expert witness. Dr. Miller testified that the appellant, of borderline intelligence, was suffering from an extreme emotional disturbance. (T 1228). The doctor explained that the appellant did not have the mental capacity to conceive alternative plans of dealing with problems in his life. (T 1234). The doctor rendered an opinion that at the time of the crime the appellant was in a heightened emotional state which diminished his mental capabilities in terms of performing rational thought. Dr. Miller opined that the appellant justified his action as morally necessary to protect his daughter for he believed that she was being subjected to an unhealthy environment by his wife's prostitution and consumption of narcotics. (T 1232). *Δ told this to Dr.*

The defense also called the appellant's brother, Greg Turner, testified of the appellant's Catholic background and life as a family man. A co-worker at the State Department of Transportation, employee Mark Ballard, testified of William Turner receiving state recognition for rescuing a young woman



kidnapped by three men who intended to rape and possibly kill her. (T 1220).

The jury returned with an advisory sentence, and announced a vote of six to six to recommended life in Count One. (T 1367) and by a vote of seven to five recommended death in Count Two. (T 1367). The court took the sentence under advisement and announced an additional hearing to present evidence in mitigation and aggravation of sentence. This was to provide the defense with time inter alia to obtain the appellant's military records. (T 1365). Subsequently, a hearing was held, wherein the trial court announced the intention to pronounce sentence, notwithstanding his previous announcement. *now moot S.Ct. has ruled on this* Defense counsel was instructed that the record could be supplemented by any written materials for purposes of sentencing. (T 1378). A Presentence Investigation, conducted by the Florida Department of Corrections, was reviewed by the trial court. (T 1382). Defense counsel presented written objections to the PSI report. (R 220-23).

The trial court adjudicated the appellant to be guilty of each of the two counts of murder in the first degree. (R 1441). The court, finding and adopting the jury's recommendation of life in count one, sentenced the appellant to a term of natural life without parole for 25 years. (T 1442). In count two, the trial court sentenced the appellant to death. (T 1432) finding four aggravating circumstances to exist and no mitigating circumstances.

Appellant objected to the imposition of sentence in

count two as not supported by the law. Counsel argued that the court previously found no deviation between counts one and two as to aggravating and mitigating circumstances yet approved the jury recommendation of life in count one on the one hand, and on the other, rejecting the presence of any mitigating circumstances in count two. The trial court justified the differentiation because of he considered the prior conviction in chronological order. (T 1452).

I.  
APPELLANT WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW  
BY HIS INVOLUNTARY ABSENCE FROM THE VOIRE DIRE CONFERENCE  
AND CHARGE CONFERENCE

In a capital case, the defendant has the constitutional right to be present at the stages of his trial where fundamental fairness might be thwarted by his absence. Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 54 S.Ct. 330, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975). This right has been held by the United States Supreme Court to derive from the confrontation clause of the sixth amendment and the due process clause of the fourteenth amendment. Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 90 S.Ct. 1057, 25 L.Ed.2d 353 (1970).

The defendant's right to be present at a capital trial is nonwaivable. Proffitt v. Wainwright, 685 F.2d 1227 (11th Cir. 1982), rehearing denied, 706 F.2d 1311 and 708 F.2d 734, cert. denied, 104 S.Ct. 508,509 (1983).

On the first day of trial, after voire dire, the trial

court judge met with counsel, but without the appellant, to review potential jurors and hear preemptory challenges or challenges for cause. Although the record reflects the appellant in the courtroom, the record does not reflect Turner's voluntary exclusion from the venire conference. Appellant submits that it was his desire to be present at all stages of the trial but that he was involuntarily excluded by the trial court.

The trial record reflects the following:

The Court: Okay.

Now, ladies and gentlemen, it's going to be necessary that I have a brief conference with the attorneys involved in the case.

\* \* \*

(The following proceedings were had in the jury room outside of prospective jurors:)

The Court: Now, let's talk about cause first, if there's any such. Do you have any challenges on anybody for cause? (T 208-09).

Later, that same day, the trial court judge accompanied by counsel but not including the appellant, retired to the jury room for additional challenges to the venire:

The Court: Ladies and Gentlemen, rather than keep you in like we did before and, again, it's been a long day for everyone, I think I'm going to ask counsel and the court reporter to retire to the jury room and I'll just excuse all of you until 4 o' clock. It will probably take us that long anyway. If everybody will be back here at 4 o'clock, we'll reconvene court. In the meantime, I'll be conferring with the attorneys.

We'll be in brief recess except for that aspect of it, gentlemen.

(The following proceedings were had in jury room outside of the presence of prospective jurors:)

The Court: Let's see. Who was first last was the state

on the last bunch I had so, therefore, we're going to  
- - the defense is going to go first on Ms. Collins. (T  
290) (emphasis supplied).

The record does not reflect the appellant's presence during the challenge of jurors held by the trial court judge with the assistant state attorney and defense counsel in the jury room adjacent to the courtroom.

In addition to the absence of the appellant from the venire conference, the appellant was involuntarily absent from the charge conference. In the trial below, after the defense rested, the trial court excused the jury for the day. The record reflects the following:

(Jury absence).

Mr. Coxe [Defense Counsel]: I'll waive his appearance at the charge conference.

(The following proceedings were had in chambers).

The Court: Mr. Coxe is waiving Mr. Turner's appearance at the charge conference. (T 838).

The Court reviewed the submitted jury instructions and announced a second charge conference to finalize the instructions. (T 866).

Later the State rested after presenting two rebuttal witnesses. The trial judge then retired to chambers with the attorneys but without the defendant and without waiver of the appellant's presence at the second charge conference.

(Jury absent).

The Court: We'll just be in recess for 5 minutes or seven minutes. We'll meet in my chambers with the reporter.

Mr. Kunz [Assistant State Attorney]: Is the defense going to waive the presence of Mr. Turner?

The Court: He'll do that in there, I think, if he cares

to.

Mr. Coxe [Defense Counsel]: Yes, sir.  
(The following proceedings were had in chambers.) (T 1019)

\* \* \*

The Court: We didn't deal with the question of waiving Mr. Turner's appearance here.

Mr. Coxe: I waive that and I retroactively waive it to the beginning of this conference. (T 1031-32).

The record does not affirmatively demonstrate the presence at the venire conference or charge conference of the appellant. The record does not demonstrate any waiver of his right by counsel of his presence and that he acquiesced in his counsel's actions as to the venire conference. Any such waiver at the charged conference if valid was not acquiesced by the appellant. The record does not show appellant's absence from either conference was at the request of the appellant or his counsel.

The importance of the defendant's presence at all stages of the capital proceedings was reviewed in Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982), where this Court held that the defendant's absence from his capital trial during the selection and challenges of the venire was reversible error. Justice Alderman noted that Francis was absent during a crucial stage of his trial and that his attorney had not obtained his client's express consent to either waive his presence or to challenge the jury in his absence. Moreover, the Francis court noted that record did not reflect either the defendant's waiver or consent to be absent himself and the right to be present. See, Schneekloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 36 L.Ed.2d 854 (1973).

Only under specific circumstances can a defendant be

absented or waive his right in a capital case to be present at trial. In Peede v. State, 474 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1985), this Court held that the defendant can waive his right to be present at any stage if he personally chooses to voluntarily absent himself from the capital trial. Peede had previously interrupted the capital proceedings and disrupted the court room, and the trial court responded to his request to be absent by conducting a hearing.

Similar to the Francis decision, in the case at bar, the record does not reflect the appellant's voluntary absence from the venire conference. The venire conference, as well as the charge conference, were situations in which the appellant's presence was important because of the aid he could have given counsel. Moreover, as a capital case, any possible waiver by counsel as to his presence at the charge conference was not binding as the defendant neither consented to the waiver nor acquiesced to it afterwards. In view of the gravity of this error, it cannot be deemed harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant's involuntary absence without waiver by consent or subsequent ratification was reversible error. The conviction must be reversed and remanded for new trial.

## II

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE INTRODUCTION INTO EVIDENCE OF FOURTY-THREE GRUESOME PHOTOGRAPHS AND A TAPE RECORDING OF A CONVERSATION MADE BY A VICTIM TO THE POLICE AS SHE WAS REPEATEDLY STABBED TO DEATH

- A. THE PREJUDICIAL IMPACT OF FOURTY-THREE GRUESOME PHOTOGRAPHS OUTWEIGHED ITS PROBATIVE VALUE.

Gruesome photographs are generally admitted into evidence on the same basis as other photographs if they fairly and accurately represent some material fact: are relevant, Section 90.401 Florida Statutes (1983), Adams v. State, 412 So.2d 850 (Fla.), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 882 (1982), Straight v. State, 397 So.2d 903 (Fla.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1022 (1981), and not excluded under Section 90.403, Florida Statutes, (1983) Exclusion on Grounds of Prejudice or Confusion.<sup>1</sup> Under Section 90.403, the admission of evidence, including photographs, into evidence is precluded when their probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice or misleading the jury. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, Section 401.2 (2d Ed. 1984); See also, United States v. Bowers, 660 F.2d 527, 529 (5th Cir. 1981).

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