IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM T. TURNER,

Appellant,

-v-

CASE NO. 67,987

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

SID J. VALIDA MAY 5 1900 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General

ROYALL P. TERRY, JR. Assistant Attorney General

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

The Capitol
Tallahassee, FL 32301-8048
(904) 488-0290

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As to Issue I

The record reflects the presence of appellant at the beginning of the jury selection process and there is no reliable indication in the record that the defense attorney was separated from his client for the voir dire conference. Defense counsel expressly waived the presence of defendant, on the record, at the beginning of the charge conference. The charge conference is not a crucial part of a criminal trial and absence of defendant does not compromise any constitutionally guaranteed right. Defendant's presence at voir dire conference and charge conferences are waivable even in capital cases.

As to Issue II

Gruesomeness of the photographs are not proper grounds for their exclusion when they are representative, relevant, of probative value, and of assistance to the jury. In a case where defendant admits having created the gruesome scene himself he should not be heard to complain that same is prejudicial. A copy of a tape recording of an official police department incoming call made by a victim while she was being stabbed to death is relevant and of probative value to show identification of the assailant and criminal intent.

As to Issue III

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing the admission into evidence of a Baker Act order and examination of appellant when appellant was summarily released after the examination, there being no finding of mental illness. The trial court properly found that such documents would be of no material assistance to the jury in determining the issues presented to it.

As to Issue IV

The sanity of the appellant was a question for the jury to resolve, based upon the evidence presented. The jury's finding in this regard should not be disturbed where a reasonable jury could reach the same result based on the evidence presented.

As to Issue V

Premeditation is a question for the jury to decide and premeditation may be provable by circumstantial evidence. When a reasonable jury could have reached the same result based upon the same evidence presented in the case at bar, the jury's findings in this regard should not be disturbed.

As to Issue VI

Where the evidence showed that appellant arrived at the premises occupied by his victims and without provocation entered therein and committed an assault which resulted in the death of

one of the victims therein, there was substantial evidence of burglary and the jury properly found that appellant had broken and entered into the premises with intent to commit the assault therein that he did commit, resulting in the death of Shirley Turner. On the facts, the court properly instructed the jury as to the doctrine of felony murder.

As to Issue VII

The trial court properly refused to instruct the jury in this case respecting claimed mitigating circumstances in that there was no evidence presented at trial that appellant was acting under any duress whatsoever when he murdered Shirley Turner and Joyce Brown. The court properly found that defendant's age (39) at the time of the murders was of no significance and no evidence to this effect was presented. As to defendant's family history, role as parent, "dull normal" intelligence, military record, employment record, etc., the jury heard it all from various defense witnesses and was free to attach any significance it cared to, to any of these factors under the court's instruction that the jury may consider "any other aspect of the defendant's character, record, or circumstance of the offense." Appellant has demonstrated no prejudice by the court's refusal to specifically instruct the jury in considering factors which it knew anyway, that it might consider in advising the court as to a recommended sentence.

As to Issue VIII

Where the appellant pursued his victim, Joyce Brown, for some distance, took time to argue with her about her alleged transgressions respecting appellant's family, and then proceeded to methodically cut and stab her to death, the jury properly found that the killing was done in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. Further, where appellant inflicted a total of fifty-one cutting and slashing wounds on the body of Joyce Brown, many of which were not fatal, the jury properly found that the killing was heinous, atrocious or cruel. In not rejecting the jury's recommended sentence of death the trial court properly found that there was ample basis in the evidence for the jury's recommendation and that the evidence supported their recommendation.

As to Issue IX

Based upon the evidence presented, the court found proper and adequate basis for imposition of the death penalty. In the murder of Joyce Brown, appellant's acts were attenuated in that there were separate aspects to the pursuit of the victim, accusations against her, and denials by the victim, and the relatively slow killing process from which a reasonable jury and the trial court itself could identify distinct aggravating factors. Where the evidence supports a finding by the court that certain aggravating factors occurred distinct from one another,

such a finding does not amount to doubling of aggravating circumstances.

As to Issue X

Appellant has made no showing that the trial court either abused its discretion or departed from the essentials of law in concurring with the jury's recommended sentences as the two killings were not contemporaneous although essentially part of the same transaction. The aggravating and mitigating factors in the two cases were distinctive and both the jury and the trial court took proper note of same and acted accordingly and within their respective provinces.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW AS HIS ABSENCE FROM THE VOIR DIRE CONFERENCE AND THE CHARGE CONFERENCE WAS VOLUNTARY. (Restated.)

Appellee concedes that appellant was not physically present in chambers along with the trial judge and counsel for the parties during the charge conference. The record is devoid of any evidence that appellant was either absent or involuntarily excluded from the voir dire conference. The record shows clearly that appellant was present when jury selection began. (T 93). There is no reason to conclude that he was thereafter abandoned by counsel or cut adrift from the proceedings that transpired in the voire dire conferences that followed. (T 208, 290). Moreover, defense counsel expressly waived his client's appearance at the charge conference. (T 838, T 1031-32). Appellant, on appeal, is not represented by the same attorney who represented him at trial. Therefore, there is no reason to assume that trial defense counsel did not consult with his client concerning these issues and it must be presumed at this point that trial counsel was competent enough to ensure that his client's best interests would not be compromised by his absence from the jury room or chambers while the trial judge conferred with counsel concerning jury challenges and later, jury charges. From the record, there is no reason to presume that

trial defense counsel did not confer with his client respecting any matter or aspect of the trial in which the defendant could have been reasonably expected to render assistance to his attorney.

It is important to remember that neither the voir dire conference nor the jury charging conference involves confrontation with witnesses, some of whom might be familiar to the defendant and concerning whom the defendant might render real assistance to counsel with respect to potential testimony. question arises as to what contribution a defendant might make in assisting counsel in his overall defense, during voir dire conference or charging conference. Appellee submits that a layman client could make no real contribution to his defense in these settings. Appellee submits that the charging conference is not a crucial stage of a trial and that it is abundantly clear from the record in the case at bar that appellant's absences did not deprive him of a fundamentally fair trial. Howard v. State, So.2d (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), Case No. 83-2337, opinion filed March 11, 1986, 11 F.L.W. 622. If appellant in the case sub judice is of "borderline intelligence" as counsel has characterized him on p. 7 of his brief there is created the reasonable inference that competent trial counsel might have acted in his client's best interest in counseling him and advising him that his presence would not be advantageous. again, this court should not presume that trial defense counsel

acted irresponsibly or that appellant was absent from the voir dire conference.

Even a <u>capital</u> defendant is free to waive his presence at a crucial stage of the trial. Counsel may make the waiver on behalf of a client, provided that the client, subsequent to the waiver, ratifies the waiver, either by examination by the trial judge, or by acquiescence to the waiver with actual or <u>constructive</u> knowledge of the waiver. <u>Amazon v. State</u>,

So.2d _____, Case No. 64,117, opinion filed March 13, 1986, 11

F.L.W. 105, citing <u>Peede v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1985).

Appellee is aware of this court's holding in Francis v.
State, 413 So.2d 1175 (1982). However, in that case, the defense counsel had told Francis that he could not go into the jury room with the judge and respective counsel, for the voir dire conference. It was uncontested that his counsel had not obtained his express consent to challenge peremptorily the jury in his absence. No such evidence exists in the case sub judice. There is no evidence that defendant was absent from the voir dire conference or that defendant's nonparticipation was not entirely voluntary. When there has been no showing that the defendant was unprotected during his absence (if such be the case), or that occurrences or omissions prejudiced the proceedings against him, prejudice will not be presumed where the record shows free and voluntary ratification by the defendant of proceedings which

occurred during his absence. State v. Melendez, 244 So.2d 137 (Fla. 1971). Although Melendez was a noncapital case, the rule that emanated is a sound one. Is this court now to presume that defense counsel acted so irresponsibly as to not be in easy touch with his client for consultation should the necessity arise? record in the case sub judice suggests that defendant was always nearby in the court room during both conferences. (Appellant's brief, p. 11.) The general rule is that a client is bound by the acts of his attorney if done within the scope of the attorney's authority. Howard v. State, surpa. Appelle submits that absent evidence that appellant was excluded from either the voir dire or the charge conference, the fact that appellant may not have been immediately and physically present at proceedings where a layman defendant, in the judgment of his attorney, could not have offered material assistance to counsel respecting juror challenges and the sophisticated art of drafting jury instructions, does not warrant reversal in what was overall a more than fair trial for appellant. By allowing the charge conference to proceed without contesting the issue of his client's presence, appellant's counsel effectively waived any objection that could have been made concerning appellant's absence. Id. See also Mangeri v. State, 460 So.2d 975, 980, n. 9 (Fla.3rd DCA 1984).

Appellant's perception of the rule is considerably flawed. This is yet another case in which appellant was

represented at trial by counsel other than the one who represents him on appeal. An energetic, competent and zealous defense attorney should not be inferentially boiled in oil by appellate counsel who urges upon this court the proposition that trial counsel could not have possibly discussed the desirability or undesirability of appellant's presence at the voir dire and jury charge conferences. A simple examination of the record in the case sub judice shows clearly that trial counsel did a quality job and that the results, on the evidence before the jury and the savagery of the murders, could not likely have been affected by appellant's presence or absence during conferences between the attorneys and the trial judge which did not involve confrontation with witnesses.

On the other hand, the rule, as appellant perceives it, invites fraud by defendants and/or defense counsel. A shrewd defense counsel of questionable ethics could effectively sabotage an otherwise perfect trial with the unwitting cooperation of a trusting prosecutor and trial judge presuming that defense counsel is competent enough to consult with his client as to any and all crucial aspects of the trial. Such stringent application of a general rule could create havoc if counsel sought to create built-in error in the event of an adverse verdict.

In either scenario, unless the trial judge deigns to intervene on behalf of the defendant, trial counsel could

silently permit the conferences to take place in defendant's absence as a fool-proof appellant insurance policy against the possibility of a conviction. Such cynical manipulations of our criminal justice system might never go uncovered as a practical matter due to the pervasiveness of the attorney/client privilege and the obvious interest both would have in maintaining the charade. Appellee makes no such contention that there was unethical behavior in the instant case as the record reflects none. In any case, appellant has failed to make out a case of appellant's absence from the voir dire conference or deprivation of any fundamental or constitutionally guaranteed right. In State v. Smith, 240 So.2d 807 (Fla. 1970), this court quoted from Gibson v. State, 194 So.2d 19 (Fla.2d DCA 1967):

The Florida cases are extremely wary in permitting the fundamental error rule to be the "open sesame" for consideration of alleged trial errors not properly preserved. Instances where the rule has been permitted by the appellate Courts to apply seem to be categorized into three classes of cases: (1) where an involved statute is alleged to be unconstitutional, (2) where the issue reaches down into the very legality of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict could not have been obtained without the assistance of the error alleged, and (3) where a serious question exists as to jurisdiction of the trial Court. (p. 20)

Id. at 810.

Section 924.33, F.S., is a workable and sensible statute which appellee submits should be given much consideration when-

ever an appellate court is considering undoing the work of a jury when the evidence in the case has been so strong and compelling as in the case sub judice.

In <u>Johnson v. Wainwright</u>, 463 So.2d 207 (Fla. 1985), this court tacitly confirmed that not all objected-to alleged violations of even a capital criminal defendant's right to <u>confrontation</u> constitute fundamental error, intimating that the defense counsel's explicit waiver of defendant's presence, on his behalf, respecting the testimony of a psychiatrist in a first-degree murder case would have precluded the defendant from successfully urging this volitional absence as error upon direct appeal. <u>Johnson</u> involved a petition for writ of habeas corpus, which was denied.

This view is consistent with the subsequent holding of the United States Supreme Court in <u>United States v. Gagnon</u>, 470

U.S. _____, 84 L.Ed.2d 486 (1985), that where a defendant has actual knowledge of an in-chambers meeting between the trial judge and a juror at which his counsel is present, and the defense raises no contemporaneous objection to the defendant's exclusion therefrom, no express personal waiver of the defendant's right to be present is required and his volitional absence may not fruitfully be raised as constitutional error on direct appeal. In the case sub judice, the absence of defendant complained of does not present a confrontational question but

rather technical discussions concerning jury challenges and jury instructions respectively. To paraphrase this court in <u>Johnson</u> v. Wainwright, supra, at 211, 212:

Counsel could very reasonably have decided that the issue was not a promising one because of the waiver and the lack of prejudice to the defense.

Appellee urges that this Honorable Court should not presume that defense trial counsel did not consider the desirability of appellant's presence at both the jury voir dire and jury charging conferences and did not discuss same with his client.

Reversible error cannot be predicated upon conjecture.

<u>Sullivan v. State</u>, 303 So.2d 632, 635 (Fla. 1974), <u>cert.denied</u>,

428 U.S. 911 (1976); <u>Jacob v. Wainwright</u>, 450 So.2d 200, 201

(Fla. 1984), <u>cert.denied</u>, ______, 83 L.Ed.2d 205 (1984).

As the Third District put it in <u>Strate v. State</u>, 328 So.2d 29, 30 (Fla.3d DCA 1976), <u>cert.denied</u>, 336 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 1976):

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